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Chairman’s report

The Melbourne Symphony Orchestra’s
mission is to engage the largest possible
audiences to experience the great music
performed by our wonderful Orchestra and
Chorus. We do this through performances,
broadcasts, recordings, and very importantly,
our extensive education and community
programs. While each year we aim to find
increasingly better ways make this vision a
reality, we can be very proud of our
achievements in all of these areas in 2010.
Without a secure financial platform from
which to work, of course, meaningful progress
is very difficult. I’m pleased to report that,
from a deficit in 2009 of more than
$800,000, we concluded 2010 with a modest
surplus of $31,420. That is a remarkable
turnaround, one helped immensely by our
private donors and patrons, our corporate
partners like Emirates, NAB and Powercor,
and support from Government; ultimately,
this result is also a fine tribute to the hard
work and commitment of all involved at
the MSO. At year end, we retained strong
reserves of more than $4 million heading
into 2011.
One of the developments of which I am
most proud was the Orchestra’s presence
and involvement in the life of Melbourne,
and indeed Victoria, beyond its traditional
classical concerts in the city centre. The
musicians play an integral part in such
major public events as the AFL Grand Final
(the first one for the year, not the second!),
the Melbourne Fashion Festival and the
launch of the Melbourne Rebels rugby team.
We also performed full-length concerts in
greater Melbourne – in Brighton, Frankston,
Malvern, Moonee Ponds and Ringwood.
This was in addition to our long- standing
commitment to performances throughout
regional Victoria. We gave evening concerts
in Ballarat, Bendigo, Hamilton, Shepparton,
Swan Hill, Warragul and Warrnambool,

and gave performances for primary and
secondary schoolchildren in most of these
centres, and in the suburban venues, too.
The Orchestra’s strong spirit of engagement
in educating young people (indeed people
of all ages) about music was also evident in
many other community projects during
the year, including our collaborations with
Federation Square, the City of Melbourne’s
ArtPlay, the Australian National Academy
of Music; the Baby Proms, presented in
association with the Melbourne Music
Festival; the concert performed by the MSO
Chamber Players at the Queenscliff Music
Festival; Keys to Music with Graham Abbott,
in collaboration with ABC Classic FM and
the free public concerts we presented in the
Melbourne Town Hall to announce our 2011
season.
In terms of our concert year in Melbourne,
2010 was dominated by our successful move
from Hamer Hall at the end of June. The
renovation of our main performance home
is a key event in the life of the performing
company, and our planned return to the Arts
Centre in 2012 will see us ready to take on
the many opportunities presented to us by
the revitalised precinct of which the Hall
will form so central a part. We are using our
time in the Melbourne Town Hall – where
many of our concerts take place during
Hamer Hall renovation – to reflect on how
we engage the community and deliver great
music to people of all ages. To build on our
amazing history of achievement, we are
working to firmly establish ourselves as an
invaluable resource and cultural centrepiece
in Melbourne. I would say our keywords as
we shape our future identity as a City and
as an Orchestra are Energy, Engagement and
Opportunity.

Matthew VanBesien joined us as Managing
Director in February. Most recently the CEO
of the Houston Symphony, he has brought a
tremendous passion and focus to the
Company and the issues we face in order to
secure a successful future. His understanding
of the delicate balance the Company needs to
find, to ensure that our success is founded on
innovation, artistic excellence and financial
responsibility, is greatly respected by the
Board.
Emirates has been our Principal Partner since
2004, and in 2010 renewed their partnership
with us at this level for another two years. It is
enduring relationships like this, with our key
stakeholders, that are so vital to our ability to
deliver our programs successfully.

HAROLD MITCHELL AC
Chairman

Following the retirement of long-serving
Managing Director Trevor Green in February,
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Corporate Governance Statement

This statement outlines the Melbourne
Symphony Orchestra’s corporate governance
practices in line with the eight Good Practice
Governance Principles published and
monitored by the Major Performing Arts
Board of the Australia Council for the Arts.
These principles are based on the
recommendations published by the
ASX Corporate Governance Council.
The statement sets out the Melbourne
Symphony Orchestra’s compliance with
the eight Principles as at the end of the
financial and calendar year.

Principle 1:
Lay solid foundations for management
and oversight
The practice of the MSO’s Board of directors
is governed by the company’s Constitution.
The Board delegates the management of the
organisation to the Managing Director and
senior management team, and retains
oversight of each of the MSO’s significant
business streams through Board subcommittees. Membership of the
sub-committees includes at least one Board
director as well as senior management.
Charters exist for each of the Board subcommittees. The directors who sit on the
Board sub-committees act as a Board interface
by representing the Board and reporting back
at full Board meetings.
Each year, a calendar of Board and Board
sub-committee meetings is set. The Board
met five times in 2010. In addition, the
Board and senior management attend two
strategy days each year to review pertinent
issues outside the scope of a regular Board
meeting and develop a response and
implementation plan to these issues.
The scope of the Board meetings include
but are not limited to the MSO’s three-year
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Business Plan, artistic program, budget for
the forthcoming season and financial year,
updates from the Managing Director and
subcommittees and any priority issues (such
as the arts precinct redevelopment). Members
of the senior management team report to the
Board face- to-face on a regular basis.
In 2010 the Board decided to re-organise the
Board sub-committees along the following
lines:
• Finance and Revenue Sub-Committee
(MSO financials and long-term financial
modelling, earned income streams,
contributed revenue streams, driving
diversity in audiences)
• Governance and Community Relations
Sub-Committee (Community relationships
and musical partnerships, Government
relations and Education)
• Strategic Planning and Technology
Sub-Committee (MSO New Home
Strategy, Periodic review and adjustment
of MSO strategic plan, MSO branding
and awareness, MSO’s relationship
with the ABC, technology plans and
implementation support strategies,
overall MSO vision)
• MSO Foundation and Development
Sub-Committee (Major gifts for MSO
Foundation, Foundation structure
re: endowment fund)
All Board subcommittees comprise Board
members in their areas of expertise, the
relevant senior management representative/s
and external experts where appropriate.
In addition, the MSO Artistic Committee
comprises management representatives,
the Chief Conductor and/or artistic leader,
Concertmaster and elected musicians. Its
main purpose is to assess the quality of past
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performances, performers and performance
standards of the Orchestra (both sections
and individuals), take action where required
to address performance issues, and to assess
forthcoming projects. Significant findings
of the Artistic Committee are reported to
the Board. Regarding Education matters,
the MSO Board also receives advice from
the Education Advisory group, which
comprises musicians, members of
management and representatives from
the teaching community who specialise
in different age groups.

Principle 2:
Structure the Board to add value
The Board includes Directors with a range
of skills including finance and accounting,
business (both public companies and small
business) and commercial experience, law,
government, marketing, fundraising, I.T. and
philanthropy. This experience is set out in the
Directors page which follows on page 7.
Directors are appointed for an initial term of
three years. Terms may be extended at the
discretion of the Chair and the Board.
As noted in Principle 1, the Board delegates
the oversight of the MSO’s significant business
streams to the Finance and Revenue,
Governance and Community Relations,
Strategic Planning and Technology, and MSO
Foundation and Development Sub-committees.

Principle 3:

Principle 4:

Principle 5:

Promote ethical and responsible
decision-making

Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

Recognise and manage risk

The Finance and Revenue Sub-Committee
comprises at least two directors and company
secretary and, by invitation, the Managing
Director, Chief Financial Officer as well
as other operational staff and external
representatives as required. The committee
meets at least quarterly and its functions
include:

The Board delegates oversight of risk
management procedures and actions to all
Board sub-committees, and recognition and
management of risk to the Managing Director
and senior management team. The charter
of the Finance and Revenue Sub-Committee
includes the safeguarding of company assets
incorporating the amendment of the
company’s investment policy. Other financial
risk factors and the strategies used by the
Board to mitigate these risks are listed in
note 22 to the annual financial report.

The MSO Board is charged with a number
of procedural matters including:
• Review of annual operating plan and
budget
• Articulation of the MSO’s vision
and mission
• Establishment and communication of
expectations in regard to the cultural values
and ethics of the Company

• Review and monitoring of progress against
Strategic Plan and Budget/forecast, and
reporting to the Board on management
and annual financial statements

The MSO, in its formal Code of Conduct,
outlines its expected standard of conduct
based on three main principles:

• Management of the MSO’s governing
policies and procedures, specifically
approving any new or altered policies

• Professionalism and integrity

• Provision of input to management in
setting the Strategic Plan and Budget

• Fairness and equity
• Avoidance of real or apparent conflict
of interest
The Board Induction Manual includes a
copy of the MSO Code of Conduct, and in
addition, the Board holds itself to the highest
standards of ethical and responsible decision
making. Codes of conduct exist for musicians
and administrative staff, and are included in a
Board Induction manual which is provided to
new directors.

• Evaluation and approval of executive
expenditure
• Ensuring compliance with applicable
laws and regulations
• Ensuring strong internal control,
policies and procedures are in place
• Development and monitoring
of investment policy
• Approval of Capital expenditure.
The Finance and Revenue Sub-Committee
requires the Managing Director and Chief
Financial Officer to attest in writing to the
truth and fairness of the MSO’s annual
financial statements. In addition, the
Managing Director and Chief Financial
Officer must attest that the operational
results are in accordance with relevant
accounting standards. The annual
accounts are independently audited.
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Corporate Governance Statement Cont.

Principle 6:

Principle 7:

Principle 8:

Encourage enhanced performance

Remunerate fairly and responsibly

The charters of the MSO Board and of
the Governance and Community Relations
sub-committee include the requirement to:

The Board is specifically charged with
ensuring the achievement, development
and succession of the Company’s senior
management team, including remuneration.
The Board assesses and, when necessary, takes
professional advice on market benchmarks
for remuneration. The Board provides the
Managing Director with parameters within
which to negotiate musician and
administration staff agreements.

Recognise the legitimate interests of
stakeholders

• Recommend to electing bodies possible
new Board members, with regard to the
diversity of the skills of the MSO Board
members and organisation skill
requirements
• Develop Board criteria and skill
requirements

The Board itself is not remunerated.

• Evaluate the Board’s performance as a
whole and of individual members
• Actively manage the Board rotation system
• Ensure succession planning for Managing
Director and other key management roles
including Chief Conductor and/or artistic
leader
• Ensure that new Board members are
adequately educated about the MSO
In addition, the Board relies on the advice of
the Artistic Committee, a group comprising
the Managing Director, Director of Artistic
Planning, Director of Operations and
Orchestra members. The group meets on
a regular basis to assess and improve artistic
quality and performance standards, and
review artistic standards and achievements
of the MSO’s program.
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The Board is charged with ultimate
responsibility to ensure that productive
working relationships with key MSO
stakeholders are maintained. The day to day
management of key stakeholder relationships
is delegated to the MSO’s Managing Director
and in turn to the senior management team.
The MSO actively encourages and actions
audience feedback via its website as well as
by verbal, postal and electronic
communication channels.
The Managing Director, senior management
team and Board members regularly meet
with key stakeholders including government,
sponsors, audiences, the Orchestra itself and
those providing professional advice to the
MSO. From 2009, a peer-review panel was
implemented; providing valuable additional
artistic feedback to Board and management
regarding orchestral quality and performance
standards.

Directors

Name

at 31 december 2010

Board Committees

Mr H Mitchell AC
Mr M VanBesien

FSC, GSC

Skills

Date of Appointment

Media, Philanthropy & General Business

27 November 2008

MSO Managing Director

15 February 2010

Hon. A Goldberg AO QC

GSC

Legal

15 March 2000

Dr. B. Adams

MITSC, DSC

Government and General Business

24 November 2004

Mr P Biggs

MSC

Marketing and Commercial Business

1 January 2007

Ms A Peacock

DSC

Fundraising and Corporate Sponsorship

1 January 2007

Mr M Ullmer

FSC

Financial and General Commercial Business

1 January 2007

Mr K Wong

MITSC, DSC

Mr A McKean
Cr J Kanis

MSC

Information Technology

1 January 2007

Employee Elected Director

23 March 2009

Local Government and Legal/IR

23 March 2009

The names of the director/s of the company who retired during the year and the date of their retirement are:
Mr T Green

Director ceased 29 January 2010

FSC = Finance Sub-Committee
GSC = Governance Sub-Committee
MSC = Marketing Sub-Committee
MITSC = Marketing IT Sub-Committee
DSC = Development Sub-Committee
Directors of the Company during the financial year and until date of this report were as follows:
Name

Director since

Mr H Mitchell AC (Chairman)

27 November 2008

Mr T.J. Green

8 February 1999 (ceased 29 January 2010)

Mr M VanBesien

15 February 2010

Hon. A Goldberg AO QC

15 March 2000

Dr. B. Adams

24 November 2004

Mr P Biggs

1 January 2007

Ms A Peacock

1 January 2007

Mr. M Ullmer

1 January 2007

Mr K Wong

1 January 2007

Mr A McKean

23 March 2009

Cr J Kanis

23 march 2009

Company Secretary
Mr Oliver Carton

Appointed 13 February 2004
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Managing Director’s report

Any performing arts company of the
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra’s size
and ambition is compelled to recognise the
needs of the communities it serves. “Build
it and they will come,” it used to be said,
or in musical terms, “present great art and
audiences will attend.” Yet, along with the
many thousands of people in Melbourne,
Geelong and regional Victoria who are
passionate about the music our Orchestra
and Chorus perform in our main subscription
and touring programs, there are many
thousands more whose main point of
contact with us will be through our
MSO Pops programs, concerts with
leading entertainment figures like Sting
and Tim Minchin, or appearances at such
major public events as the AFL Grand Final,
the Melbourne Fashion Festival and the
launch event for the Melbourne Rebels
rugby franchise.
It’s this diversity of activity, and commitment
to be active throughout Melbourne and
Victoria, that are absolutely crucial to our
ongoing success, and were key factors in our
turnaround from deficit to surplus in 2010.
We also spent much of the year re-focussing
on another central activity that has massive
implications for the Orchestra’s long-term
relevance: our Education and Community
Outreach program. Although our inaugural
Education Week – our week-long, ‘openhouse’ for MSO learning activities – takes
place later in 2011, the groundwork for this
intensive showcase of workshops, forums
and performances was ‘laid in’ last year.
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During 2010, our collaboration with the
City of Melbourne’s ArtPlay strengthened
considerably, with the introduction of a
new ArtPlay/MSO ensemble, City Beats;
and our MSO Jams and Family Jams
programs continued to increase their
attendance and engagement. Also significant
was the growing success of our Pizzicato
Effect program at Meadows Primary School,
which received not only more resources and
focus internally, but was featured in several
media publications and a feature story on
ABC TV’s 7:30 Report.
Much of the year was dominated for us by
the closure of the Hamer Hall in June for a
major renovation, and our temporary move
back to the Orchestra’s original home, the
Melbourne Town Hall, for many of our
concerts. The interim challenges of moving
from a purpose-built concert hall of the late
20th century to a Victorian Town Hall not
designed specifically for orchestral music are
considerable, and our Operations and
Marketing staff, in particular, worked very
hard in the latter half of the year to ensure
that MSO performances were great
experiences for both our audiences and our
musicians.
While our time in Town Hall is providing
us with a valuable opportunity to look
carefully at our performance offerings,
the re-opening of Hamer Hall, scheduled
for mid-2012, is a key event in the life of
the performing company. With dramatic
improvements in acoustics, facilities, foyer
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spaces and the customer experience, the new
hall is set to provide a tremendous showcase
for the Orchestra and its many diverse
programs to audiences of all ages and
interests.
Hand in hand with our constant
re-examination of our mix of activity,
we endeavoured to build a longer-term
financial model for the MSO, to better
understand the company’s financial structure
and the work ahead. There is strong
commitment from all stakeholders to see
the MSO not only thrive as an artistic
enterprise, but to be supported by an
organisation built on best practices, sound
financial acumen and increased resources.
Now and for the future, we must ensure that
the MSO increases private philanthropy and
corporate support, delivers robust ticket sales
and earned income and secures generous and
adequately indexed government funding.
At the heart of our mission is great symphonic
music, but we must always understand what
is practically necessary to truly support and
nurture the MSO’s artistic development and
its educational and community programs.
While our Orchestra and Chorus are in
fine artistic shape, the musicians, choristers,
staff, audiences and key stakeholders – from
MSO Friends groups through to high-level
corporate supporters – all acknowledge the
importance of appointing an artistic leader
for the MSO. While this occupied much of
our attention during 2010, it will be some
time before any announcement is made.

It is of the greatest importance to us to
appoint someone who believes in the
Company’s goals of community engagement
and ambassadorship, artistic excellence,
product diversity and innovation, and we
believe in taking the time to appoint the
right person. Given that all these qualities
need to be fully aligned with great artistry
and outstanding conducting abilities, this
process will, inevitably, not be concluded
swiftly.
In terms of major internal appointments,
2010 saw us welcome a new Director of
Marketing, Merri Hagan, and a number
of new orchestral musicians. At the end of
the year, Matthew Tomkins passed his trial
as Principal Second Violin. We also welcomed
Lerida Delbridge to the First Violin section,
Philippa West and Patrick Wong to the
Second Violin section, Justin Williams to the
violas, Michelle Wood and Rohan de Korte to
the Cello section and Saul Lewis as Principal
Third Horn.
On a personal note, I have enjoyed
immensely my first year as the MSO’s
Managing Director, having arrived in
February 2010. I’d like to thank my
predecessor, Trevor Green, for his kind
efforts during my transition, our Chairman
and Board of Directors for their full and
ongoing support, the countless audience
members, patrons and donors who have
been so welcoming and encouraging,
and to our MSO family of musicians
and administrative team – all of whom

are extraordinarily gifted and committed
to our Company’s purpose; I’m particularly
honoured to work with them.
Finally, I must re-iterate our Chairman’s
acknowledgement of our corporate and
philanthropic supporters, the wonderful
MSO Friends groups in Melbourne and
Geelong, and our own MSO Board of
Directors for their dedication and generosity
in 2010. Along with the substantial funding
we receive from the Commonwealth
Government through the Australia Council,
from the Victorian Government through
Arts Victoria and from the City of
Melbourne, their collective passion and
support for the MSO helps ensure that our
Orchestra and Chorus are thriving, vibrant
and integral parts of this community.

MATTHEW VANBESIEN
Managing Director
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2010 – the year in performance

Following the commercial projects in the
early part of the year – including three
performances with The Beach Boys in
January and three performances with
Nigel Kennedy in February – the
2010 Sidney Myer Free Concerts were
blessed with predominately good weather
and fantastic audiences. The MSO was joined
for these concerts by a number of local artists
including violinist Rebecca Chan, pianist
Maxwell Foster, cellist Julian Smiles,
conductors Benjamin Northey and Richard
Gill, and soloists and the chorus of Victorian
Opera. The Opera Gala with Victorian Opera
on the second Saturday proved to be the most
ambitious program of the four.
A high-profile project early in 2010 showed
the remarkable development of the
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Chorus
since the integration of the MSO and
Melbourne Chorale in January 2008.
Opening the Master Series under the baton
of Vladimir Ashkenazy, in Rachmaninov’s

Cantata The Bells, the Chorus gained rave
reviews, from conductor, audience, orchestra
members and media alike. The choristers,
and chorus master Jonathan Grieves-Smith,
have proved to be wonderful advocates for
the MSO and their further high-profile
engagements with the Orchestra later in the
year included Ravel’s Daphnis and Chloe
under Sir Andrew Davis and Britten’s
War Requiem under Tadaaki Otaka, as
well as their own a capella performances.
Under Brett Kelly’s direction, the preliminary
concert of our 2010 Cybec 21st Century
Composers scheme was highly successful,
with a full Iwaki Auditorium and a standard
of composition that seems to rise year on year.
The two works that went through to be
performed at the Metropolis performance at
the Malthouse on Wednesday 5 May under
the baton of Bramwell Tovey were Lunatic
Fringe by Amy Bastow and Icy Disintegration
by Annie Hsieh. The orchestra also
participated in Symphony Australia’s
Conductor Training scheme during
February, in which five young Australian
conductors were mentored for the week by
German pedagogue Lutz Koehler, as well as
having valuable podium time in front of the
MSO.
The Metropolis Festival was outstandingly
successful, thanks largely to the input of
Bramwell Tovey, conductor and curator of the
three concerts. The repertoire focused on the
crossover area between contemporary classical
music and jazz, and the concerts were
presented in association with the Melbourne
International Jazz Festival. Maestro Tovey
was perfect casting, both for the repertoire
and the occasion. He was humorous and
enlightening in his spoken introductions, he
navigated the MSO through some extremely
tricky scores, was piano soloist in his own
music and even found time to lead a post-
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concert four-piece jam in the foyer of the
CUB Malthouse Theatre. The performance of
Mark-Anthony Turnage’s Blood on the Floor,
which made up the second concert in the
Festival, was one of the true highlights of the
last few years of music-making at the MSO.
Vladimir Ashkenazy

Tadaaki Otaka

The MSO then recorded two discs for ABC
Classics: orchestral music of Richard Mills
with the composer conducting and Dvořák’s
New World Symphony under Tadaaki Otaka.
The first of these has already been released,
to much acclaim.
The MSO Chorus performed two a capella
concerts, on tour in Albury and in the
Melbourne Recital Centre, under Jonathan
Grieves-Smith’s direction. Both of these
concerts featured Brahms’ A German
Requiem, which was later committed to disc
with the MSO and Johannes Fritzsch in
recording sessions in December.

Maestro Tovey was also a great help to the
two young composers whose Cybec 21C
works were performed at the Metropolis
Festival; as well as interpreting their works
and finding additional time for advice and
encouragement, he also offered to find an
opportunity to perform the works with his
own orchestra, the Vancouver Symphony.
The standard of visiting conductors in the
early part of the year was high. After Vladimir
Ashkenazy’s opening concerts of the season,
Alexander Shelley – the young British
conductor who has now visited the MSO
three times in the last three years – conducted
a thrilling programme of Revueltas, Rodrigo,
Bernstein and Ravel. Tadaaki Otaka
conducted his first official concerts as the
Orchestra’s Principal Guest Conductor
with a solid account of Beethoven’s Eroica
Symphony, while Andrew Litton returned to
the MSO podium after an absence of 15 years
and produced a polished reading of Strauss’
A Hero’s Life.

Our Meet the Orchestra concerts in April,
designed for primary school children in
Grades 3-6, were very successful, and it
was particularly gratifying to see Benjamin
Northey – the MSO’s Education Conductor
– develop so assuredly in his concert
presentation.
Swiss conductor Mario Venzago returned to
the MSO for the final concerts in Hamer Hall
before its closure for renovation, and achieved

Sir Andrew Davis

wonderful things in Liszt, Ravel and Haydn;
the stage-managed orchestral withdrawal at
the end of the Haydn Farewell Symphony
made for a fitting final concert before closure.
Shortly thereafter, the first weekend of the
MSO’s residency at the Melbourne Town Hall
proved to be a great success, both in customer
relations and in artistic terms. Principal Guest
Conductor Tadaaki Otaka led the orchestra in
one of his signature pieces, Rachmaninov’s
Symphony No.2, which was recorded for
release on our MSO Live series on ABC
Classics. The first half of the program was
also Rachmaninov, his Piano Concerto No.3,
and the visit of American virtuoso Garrick
Ohlsson proved to be one of the highlights
of the season. It is rare to hear the work
performed with such extraordinary delicacy
as well as technical accuracy.
Other mid-year artistic highlights included
the visit of Sir Andrew Davis, who managed
to slot in a week into his schedule at short
notice following his great success with the
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2010 – the year in performance Cont.

In August, Orchestra and Chorus worked with
Johannes Fritzsch, the Chief Conductor of
the Queensland Symphony Orchestra in
performances with Australian soloists Li-Wei
(cello) and Amir Farid (piano); Fritzsch
excelled in the central European repertoire
that is his speciality. He also found time in
his schedule to rehearse the MSO Chorus,
in advance of the ambitious Brahms German
Requiem recording project for ABC Classics
in November/December; during this rehearsal
period he forged an excellent relationship the
choristers.

Olli Mustonen

MSO in 2009. His wonderful interpretation
of Ravel’s complete ballet Daphnis and Chloe
included the MSO Chorus, while the
performance by Andrew Bain in Mozart’s
Horn Concerto No.4 proved to be a fitting
showcase for our Principal Horn. Finnish
pianist, Olli Mustonen, began his three-year
cycle of the six Beethoven Piano Concertos
at the Melbourne Recital Centre; standing
ovations are rare in Melbourne but the
audience reaction was testament to his
extraordinary interpretation.

The MSO undertook numerous projects with
the Melbourne-based conductor Benjamin
Northey in the second half of the year. These
included regional tour concerts in Ballarat,
Warrnambool and Hamilton with associated
schools concerts; Classic Kids performances
at the Iwaki Auditorium, and the education
concerts for secondary schools as part of the
Metropolitan Town Halls tour. It was
wonderful to see the relationship with Ben
continue to grow as his skills as a presenter

June and July were very busy months in terms
of Education and Outreach. MSO musicians
were involved at the Hamer Hall Community
Day in early July while MSO Jams at
Federation Square during the winter school
holidays attracted record numbers of
participants. June also saw the latest instalment
of the flagship collaboration between the MSO
and ArtPlay, a relationship we hope will
deepen in 2011, with involvement in our
Beethoven Festival and Education Week.
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Benjamin Northey

and communicator, as well as a musician,
flower. His relationship with the MSO,
already formalised as Conductor of our
Education Program was enhanced greatly

Jonathan Grieves-Smith concentrated on
individual development sessions with the
Chorus members; in this manner, the
emphasis was placed on raising the standard
of the existing membership before looking
again at re-auditions. This also allowed us to
maintain higher numbers for big choral
works, such as Orff’s Carmina Burana, during
the 2011 season. The Chorus performed an a
capella programme in Brighton and in St.
Patrick’s Cathedral in September before the
annual performances of Messiah in December.

when, towards the end of 2010, he was
named Patricia Riordan Associate Conductor
Chair. The Metropolitan Town Halls tour
evening concerts took an all-Mozart program
to Brighton, Malvern, Ringwood and
Moonee Ponds, under the direction of the
Orchestra’s Associate Concertmaster Roy
Theaker.

role. In these, for the first time, Classic Kids
utilised lighting and visual imagery, in the
depiction of the story of Maximus Musicus,
the musical mouse. The reception to this
show was overwhelmingly positive and
showed the need to continually push the
boundaries in our presentations to children.
Highly successful public Jams at Federation
Square plus our ongoing work with primary
school children at Broadmeadows with the
Pizzicato Effect completed a busy year for
the Education team.

Other education work in the third quarter
included the second in Richard Gill’s Ears
Wide Open series which focused on Ravel’s
Suite from Mother Goose. This was the first
Ears Wide Open concert outside Hamer Hall.
Both sets of Classic Kids concerts in the
Iwaki Auditorium in the second half of the
year proved to be among the most successful
set of children’s concerts of the recent past.
The energy and balance of education and
entertainment provided by the Playschool
presenter Jay Laga’aia gave the first series of
events in August a unique flavour.

The MSO’s ever-popular Chamber Players
Series once again provided MSO musicians
with opportunities to work in a chamber
setting. The 2010 series, with its unique
Sunday morning slot, attracted packed houses
to the Iwaki Auditorium. Masterworks
performed during the season included
Schoenberg’s Transfigured Night, Schubert’s
Trout Quintet and Beethoven’s Septet.

The second set of Classic Kids performances
featured Noni Hazlehurst in a presenting

A decision was taken not to re-audition the
entire MSO Chorus as planned. Instead,

Due to the closure of Hamer Hall, there were
only two MSO Pops programs in 2010, the
first featuring talents of Anthony Inglis in a
concert of ‘athletic’ music entitled Sporting
Scores. The second, called Some Enchanted
Evening, was devoted to music by Rodgers
and Hammerstein, in which three visiting
artists from London’s West End packed the
Arts Centre’s State Theatre for two sold-out
performances.
The last quarter of the year was full of artistic
highlights, not just of this season but of recent

Richard Gill
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2010 – the year in performance Cont.

which culminated in a program with the
MSO. This included performances of both
his Piano and Violin concertos under his
direction, and not only featured outstanding
solo and orchestral playing (by the composer’s
own admission), but also expanded our
horizons about what kinds of performances
are possible at the Melbourne Recital Centre.

years. Chief amongst these was the visit of
one of the most important artistic voices of
our time, Thomas Adès, for concerts in the
Melbourne International Arts Festival,

Swiss Maestro Charles Dutoit returned to
the MSO after a gap of 32 years, and had a
remarkable effect on the Orchestra’s sound,
ensemble and performance levels across his
two weeks. His Friday night performance
of Rimsky-Korsakov’s Scheherazade was the
single finest MSO night many can remember,
while the Orchestra also rose to the notorious
challenges of Richard Strauss’ Suite from
Le Bourgeois Gentilhomme; efforts are already
underway to secure Dutoit’s return as soon as
possible. He was joined for his two programs
by outstanding soloists: Dutch mezzo-soprano
Christianne Stotijn, who sang Berlioz’ song
cycle Summer Nights, and flamboyant French
pianist Jean-Yves Thibaudet, who was soloist
in Saint-Saëns’ Piano Concerto No.5
Egyptian.
Another conductor spending two weeks
with the MSO – although someone who
has performed with the Orchestra almost
every season for a decade – was Mark
Wigglesworth, whose two programs
(and other associated events) concentrated
on music written in the year 1910. Mark
achieved outstanding results across his
two weeks, notably in Strauss’ Suite from
Der Rosenkavalier and Sibelius’ Symphony
No.4. Mark also collaborated with Canadian
violinist James Ehnes for a memorable
performance of Elgar’s Violin Concerto,
while James’ performances of Vivaldi’s
The Four Seasons in Melbourne Town Hall
and the Frankston Performing Arts Centre
produced sell-out houses.
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Charles Dutoit

In October, the MSO once again collaborated
with the talented composers of the University
of Melbourne and their teaching staff in a
day of workshops. Six young composers –
Mike Fitzpatrick, James Hodson, Phil
Noack, Andrew Perkins, Felipe Pinto
D’aguiar and Catherine Sullivan – had
the opportunity to hear their works
performed by the MSO with feedback and
advice coming from orchestra members and
conductor Benjamin Northey. This is an
invaluable program in assisting a composer’s
development, and builds on the important
relationship between the Orchestra and the
student community of Melbourne.
December brought not only the annual
performances of Messiah but also the MSO
Chorus’ first commercial recording –
Brahms’ A German Requiem for ABC Classics,
under the baton of Johannes Fritzsch, with
vocal soloists Nicole Car and Teddy Tahu
Rhodes. This is a flagship project for the MSO,
which will provide international benchmarking
for Chorus and Orchestra alike.

Conference Centre, marking the MSO’s
inaugural performances in this venue. The
first event featured Australian pop group
Human Nature, while the second two were
aimed at family audiences with a collection of
some of the most beloved music from Disney
films. Artistically, the Disney in Concert
shows were very satisfying, with an excellent
cast of North American singers under
Benjamin Northey’s baton and utilising
stills from the films; this program also
demonstrated that Plenary Hall is a viable
alternative as a venue for amplified sound,
while the different seating configurations
allow halls of varying sizes.

Over the first weekend in December, the
MSO promoted three concerts in Plenary
Hall at the new Melbourne Exhibition and

Mark Wigglesworth

were given at the Melbourne Recital Centre;
this proved to be an excellent acoustic for
Roy Goodman’s historically-informed
performance, which featured especially
wonderful solo singing from tenor Andrew
Staples.

HUW HUMPHREYS
Director of Artistic Planning

The annual performances of Handel’s
Messiah had a number of differences in 2010:
the decision to include a performance in our
subscription series at Robert Blackwood Hall,
Monash University, was successful; this
concert attracted the largest audience of the
2010 Monash series, while the closure of
Hamer Hall meant that the city performances

Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Chorus
Jonathan Grieves-Smith Chorus Master
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The MSO in performance at the Melbourne Town Hall

2010 guest artists included:

Jean-Yves Thibaudet

Bramwell Tovey

2010 Artistic Self-Assessment Processes

Internal Processes
In 2010, the MSO Artistic Committee
was made up of management representatives,
Concertmaster, and elected musicians. Its
main purpose is to assess the quality of past
performances, performers and performance
standards of the orchestra and to assess
upcoming projects and program choices.
During 2010, the Artistic Committee met
on six occasions. All meetings were minuted
and the agenda items included, but were
not limited to:
• Review of performances in 2010,
including soloists, conductors
and programming choices
• Orchestral performance standards
• Audition processes
• Commercial projects
• Rostering issues
• 2011 repertoire and season plans
• Future artistic leadership issues
In addition, the MSO Artistic Leadership
Committee comprises four management
representatives (including one board
member), and four elected MSO musicians
from the Artistic Committee. Its main
purpose is to consider various Artistic
Leadership models as well as identify and
research potential Chief Conductor
candidates for consideration.
Established since the integration of the
Melbourne Chorale and the Melbourne
Symphony Orchestra, the Chorus Committee
comprises eight elected members of the MSO
Chorus plus the Chorus Master and Chorus

Co-ordinator; the Director of Artistic
Planning and Managing Director also
attend from time to time. Since mid-2010,
the Committee have formally discussed issues
of artistic quality and performance standard,
which is then fed back to management in
writing.
The MSO continues to work diligently to
maintain a formal and transparent procedure
for managing artistic proficiency for its
orchestral musicians. This process continues
to be refined.

External Processes
The MSO’s concerts continue to be reviewed
on frequent basis through the media,
primarily through Melbourne newspapers.
More than 80% of its mainstage concerts
had published reviews in 2010.
Visiting artists (both conductors and soloists)
continue to provide feedback through
informal discussions with the Director of
Artistic Planning and/or the Managing
Director. Where appropriate, this feedback
was then tabled at the Artistic Committee
meetings for further discussion. Through
these discussions, the MSO was able to
obtain these artists’ feedback about the
performance of the Orchestra and benchmark
the Orchestra’s performances against other
orchestras with which the artist had
performed.

The MSO also received audience feedback
informally through letters, feedback via its
website, verbal feedback in person at the
concerts and well as via telephone and
social media.
In 2010, the MSO continued the formalised
process of self-assessment through the
Peer Review Panel. This panel comprises
members of Melbourne’s arts community,
including journalists, music educators,
performers and arts administrators. Panel
members attend approximately five concerts
per year from our core Master and Great
Classics series along with Town Hall Proms
and various other programs. Confidential
feedback is received regarding the
performances of conductors, soloists and
the Orchestra. Other considerations are given
to concert presentation; repertoire selection
and their overall enjoyment of the concerts.
This information is presented to the Artistic
Committee for feedback and review.
The MSO Educational Advisory Group,
established in 2009, continued its process
throughout 2010. The group comprises
management representatives, external
specialists in Music Education, and elected
MSO musicians. Its main purpose is to
review MSO Education activity, consider
and ensure said activity is in line with the
current state curriculum and to provide a
forum in which MSO Management and
players can access expert advice.

The MSO continues to receive feedback
from recording partners with each program
recorded through ABC Classic FM, receiving
a Live Music Production Advice, which
contains an assessment of the performance
by the Orchestra as well as views on its
suitability for broadcast.
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2010 AUDIENCE ACCESS TO THE MSO

The Melbourne Symphony Orchestra
endeavours to maintain a balance between
the financial viability of its operations and the
desire to eliminate barriers to entry that may
exist for many people in the community.

Price
The Melbourne Symphony Orchestra’s
2010 pricing policy offered a diverse pricing
structure, with adult single tickets ranging
from $20 to $170 and new and existing
subscribers offered up to 33% discount on
single ticket prices, ensuring that the
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra experience
remained affordable to music lovers
throughout the community. In addition, a
limited number
of $40 ‘last minute rush’ tickets are available
one hour prior to most performances.
The Melbourne Symphony Orchestra also
delivered its long-standing commitment to
free concerts with four free performances in
February 2010 at the Sidney Myer Music
Bowl, before an audience of 40,000.
The Melbourne Symphony Orchestra offers
special incentives to the following groups with
special needs:
• Primary and Secondary School Students,
through an extensive education program
and low-price tickets to main season
concerts.
• The elderly, through low-price single and
subscription ticket options to the concert
season, including weekend matinees with
special discounts available to Seniors’ Card
holders for selected concerts.

of subscription for only $15 per concert.
$20 ‘student rush’ tickets are available one
hour prior to every performance of the
main season (unless already sold out).
• The physically impaired, through
performances in venues which provide
access to people with disabilities, and
through cooperation with Arts Access,
through which the MSO provides a
complimentary ticket to a carer
accompanying a concertgoer with a
disability

Location
The MSO continued to use a variety of
venues within the City (The Arts Centre –
Hamer Hall and State Theatre, Melbourne
Town Hall, Sidney Myer Music Bowl,
ABC Southbank Centre, Melbourne Recital
Centre, CUB Malthouse and Plenary Hall
at the Melbourne Convention and Exhibition
Centre) as well as venues in the greater
metropolitan area, including Robert
Blackwood Hall at Monash University in
the south-eastern suburb of Clayton,
Frankston Cultural Centre, Malvern Town
Hall, Brighton Town Hall, The George Wood
Performing Arts Centre (Ringwood) and
the Clocktower Centre in Moonee Ponds.
The Orchestra presented a five-concert
subscription season at Costa Hall in Geelong,
and also performed in the regional centres
of Ararat, Ballarat, Bendigo, Dandenong,
Frankston, Hamilton, Sale, Shepparton,
Warragul and Warrnambool, giving schools
and evening concerts in each venue.

• Young people, through special Student
Passport packages designed to introduce
them to orchestral music and the benefits
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Listening Opportunities
As an independent company since 2007,
the organisation continued its long
relationship with ABC Classic FM, with
all major concert programs being broadcast
nationally. These broadcasts give the
opportunity for the whole of Australia
(both regional and metropolitan centres)
to access the work of the MSO. More than
40 concerts were broadcast in 2010.

Education and
Community Outreach 2010

Family Classic Kids

YOUNG ARTIST
DEVELOPMENT
Cybec 21st Century
Australian Composers Program
The annual Cybec 21st Century Australian
Composers Program saw four young
Australian composers – Amy Bastow, Alex
Pozniak, Annie Hsieh and Charlie Sdraulig –
complete a commission for an ensemble of
MSO musicians, performed in a free public
performance in February 2010. All under the
age of 30, the composers were from
Melbourne and Sydney and had spent several
months working with their mentors – Julian
Yu, Brenton Broadstock, Mary Finsterer and
Matthew Hindson – on their ten-minute
orchestral composition. The two works by
Amy Bastow and Annie Hsieh were then
selected to be performed again at the
Orchestra’s Metropolis concerts in May 2010.
The Cybec 21st Century Australian Composers
Program is made possible through the generous
support of The Cybec Foundation.

2010 Young Performers Awards
The MSO hosted the first two stages of
the ABC/Symphony Australia Young
Performers Awards for Victorian applicants
in the Iwaki Auditorium. A panel made up of
the MSO’s Director of Artistic Planning Huw
Humphreys; the Orchestra’s Concertmaster,
Wilma Smith; the MSO Principal Piccolo,
Andrew Macleod; pianist Caroline Almonte
and ABC Classic FM’s Stephen Snelleman
heard 64 young musicians audition for the
prestigious title.
Of these emerging artists, four Victorians
progressed through to the Stage III round.
From this, one Victorian, clarinettist Ashley
Smith, competed in the Grand Final concert,
hosted by the Queensland Symphony
Orchestra and conducted by Symphony
Australia Assistant Conductor Sarah-Grace
Williams. The MSO’s Wilma Smith joined
Richard Wenn, Stephen McIntyre and Marko
Letonja on the adjudication panel; they
announced Queensland pianist Oliver She
the winner with his performance of
Rachmaninov’s Third Piano concerto.

Oliver was awarded a $20,000 cash prize,
a professionally-produced CD of his winning
performance, concert engagements with
major Australian symphony orchestras, as well
as his own recital. He was also presented with
the David Paul Landa Memorial Scholarship
for Pianists – a biennial scholarship valued at
$25,000.
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Education and
Community Outreach 2010 Cont.

musician. The week culminated with each
Fellow completing a casual audition for the
Orchestra.
Five students passed their casual auditions
at the end of the week and are now on the
MSO’s casual musicians list. Four students
progressed to Stage II of the program, during
which they were engaged by the MSO to
rehearse and perform for two to three weeks
and to further continue the relationship with
their MSO mentor.

Snare Drum Award

Australian Youth Orchestra /
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra
String Fellowships
The Melbourne Symphony Orchestra
continued its collaboration with the
Australian Youth Orchestra in the
presentation of the String Fellowship
program.

Classic Kids
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Nine string players from across Australia
were accepted into the Fellowship program,
spending one week with the MSO. During
this time participants were assigned a mentor
from within the Orchestra, who provided
individual feedback and tuition throughout
the week. In addition to attending and
playing alongside MSO musicians during
rehearsals with conductor Andrew Litton,
students participated in various professional
development sessions including concerto
and excerpt preparation workshops, media
training, and a seminar on life as a professional
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An initiative of MSO musician Robert
Cossom, the MSO Snare Drum Award
continued in 2010, with 16 first- and secondyear tertiary percussionists from Melbourne,
Adelaide, Sydney and Brisbane auditioning in
Stage I. Three students progressed to the
performance final of Stage II, with Andrew
Penrose from the Elder Conservatorium of
Adelaide winning the Award – a Mastro
concert snare drum and case, a bitsandpieces
trap table, and a one-year mentorship with
the Melbourne Symphony Orchestra.

ADULT EDUCATION

MSO ArtPlay Ensemble

Pre-Concert Talks
These talks, attended by concertgoers of all
ages, were given before MSO performances
held in Robert Blackwood Hall, Monash
University; Deakin University, Waterfront,
Costa Hall, Geelong and in all regional tour
venues.

Conductors in Conversations
Huw Humphreys, the MSO’s Director
of Artistic Planning, hosted pre-concert
discussions with a number of great musicians
throughout 2010. Those interviewed
included Bramwell Tovey, Mark
Wigglesworth, Mario Venzago and
Andrew Litton.

Ears Wide Open
Richard Gill presented three of these
80-minute musical lectures for audiences
of all ages, which took listeners on a guided
journey of orchestral masterworks featured
within the MSO’s main-stage series. These
interactive and informative presentations
offer a wonderful learning experience for
newcomers and seasoned-concert goers alike,
in addition to being fantastic complementary
material for all students undertaking elective
music courses.

MSO Education Forum
With the support of Allans Music, the MSO
presented an Education Forum for 44 school
teachers and delegates from the Victorian
music education community, who came
together to discuss topics such as the
importance of dynamic partnerships in music
education and the importance of providing
students with access to live music.

PROGRAMS FOR
SCHOOL-AGED CHILDREN
Schools Concerts
The MSO presented school concerts in
metropolitan and regional Victoria
throughout 2010. The program reached
more than 15,000 students through concerts
including Classic Kids, Meet the Orchestra
and Up Close and Musical, all conducted
by Benjamin Northey.
In 2010 we developed our content for
Classic Kids (and Family Classic Kids)
program for children from pre-school to
Grade 2 significantly, through our work with
renowned children’s presenters and TV
personalities, Noni Hazlehurst and Jay
Laga’aia. Laga’aia designed and presented an
energetic program around his popular CD
Come Dance and Sing, and Noni Hazlehurst
was the narrator and presenter of a wonderful
new children’s story called Maximus Musicus

Visits the Orchestra by Icelandic author
Haffiridur Olafsdottir, about a mouse who
discovers a symphony orchestra. We also
presented a series of special Classic Kids
performance in Melbourne Town Hall as
part of Melbourne Music Week, in
collaboration with the City of Melbourne.
Another success was The Composer is Dead,
in our Meet the Orchestra series for upper
primary school children. The Composer
is Dead, a recent commission by the San
Francisco Symphony, has a text by popular
children’s author Lemony Snickett, which
introduces the instruments of the orchestra
in the form of a whodunit murder mystery.
Each school attending a Meet the Orchestra
concert had access to teaching resources
provided on the MSO’s website. Resources
included background information about the
composers and music heard in school
performances and suggested classroom
activities.
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Education and
Community Outreach 2010 Cont.

Our Up Close and Musical program was
designed to complement the VCE
Curriculum by providing students with
an in-depth exploration of Joaquin Rodrigo’s
Concierto de Aranjuez. This was
complemented for the first time by an
additional VCE project, in which the
Orchestra’s Education Conductor, Benjamin
Northey, analysed and then performed Aaron
Copland’s Appalachian Spring with members
of the MSO. The project saw the MSO
performing at metropolitan venues including
Brighton Town Hall, the Clocktower in
Moonee Ponds, Yarra Valley Grammar School
and Malvern Town Hall.

Education Passports
The discounted three-concert subscription
package, available to school groups, music
schools and home educators, continued in
2010. Approximately 250 teachers, parents
and students enjoyed the experience of live
orchestral performance through this program.

Family Classic Kids
In the eight Family Classic Kids
performances in 2010, we welcomed around
3,500 children and parents to the Iwaki
Auditorium. The concerts, held on Saturdays,
are open to families as a way of introducing
their children to the symphony orchestra,
its instruments and some great classical music.

COMMUNITY OUTREACH
The Orchestra’s Community Outreach
projects in 2010 continued to explore the
power of music to connect people, and create
opportunities for groups and individuals to
interact and collaborate with MSO musicians
in diverse ways.
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Classic Kids

In 2010 we developed a core group of
28 players – both permanent and casual –
who were involved in Outreach projects
throughout 2010, with many participating
in more than one project during the year.
Teaching Artists were employed to lead
intensive projects such as The Pizzicato Effect.
The number of participants for each project
varied from as little as 20 through to 100,
with more than 1,900 people participating
in the program across the year.

Projects in Schools
Community Outreach projects took MSO
musicians into schools across metropolitan
and regional Victoria through the Hire a
Hero and School Residencies programs.
These highly popular projects included
masterclasses, creative workshops, tutorials
for instrumental groups and ensembles,
and Jams.

Allans Regional School Workshops
With the support of Allans Music, MSO
musicians presented schools workshops in
the regions of Swan Hill, Shepparton,
Bendigo and Ballarat.
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PING – Remote Music Education
Pilot Program
Pingmusic.com.au is an online, interactive
project that provides music education to
middle year students in rural and regional
Victorian schools.
Pingmusic aims to develop new collaborative
models for music and arts education for the
21st century by using innovative e-learning
tools such as music composition programs,
video conferencing, online tutorials, blogs
and forums to deliver music education to
rural and regional schools. Pingmusic
incorporates three different types of learning
– an online blended learning program, online
master class workshops and online
performance experiences.
The online blended program encourages
students to participate in music and music
composition through singing and notation
workshops. Video tutorials are designed to get
students composing, recording, and working
in group activities including singing and
percussion. Students upload compositions
to the Pingmusic website where their peers,
teachers, and musician mentors make

comments and provide feedback through
forums. Students can also create personalised
blogs to document their musical journey.
Following a successful pilot program in 2009,
the MSO contributed to the program through
online tutorials in 2010 which provided
opportunities for students in regional and
rural locations to communicate with elite
performers through the use of audio/video
and text chat applications.
One of the aims of Pingmusic.com.au is to
build the capacity of rural schools and
communities to deliver music education
programs, provide greater access for rural and
regional schools to elite, city-based performance
companies, and strengthen the ICT and music
skills of generalist teachers.
Pingmusic is a collaboration between
The Song Room, the Melbourne Symphony
Orchestra, Orchestra Victoria, Victorian Opera,
Country Education Project and 3MBS FM,
and is funded by the Victorian Government.

The Pizzicato Effect
The Pizzicato Effect is a collaborative project
between Meadows Primary School in
Broadmeadows (Melbourne) and the MSO,
which aims to create new learning pathways
for children in Broadmeadows through the
introduction of instrumental learning.
Following a successful pilot program in 2009,
each child in grades 2 and 3 is provided with
a violin, viola or cello and one group
instrumental class and one aural class per
week, lead by a team of MSO teaching artists.
The children, parents and school teachers are
also given tickets to attend MSO concerts,
providing extra opportunities and experience
around live musical performance.
This program has provided children not only
with opportunities to become exposed to
music, but through engaging in various new

and challenging activities, they are also
gaining important social skills and selfconfidence, and already the program’s impact
is starting to show in many ways, with
improved focus, self confidence and
behaviour reported by their teachers.
“The children follow structure, they’re
more disciplined, they sit, listen, learn and
play,” says teacher and project coordinator,
Helen Hatzikalis. “And all these little skills
are transferring over to their other classes.”
MSO Teaching Artists Danielle Arcaro, and
cello teacher Bonnie Smart, continued their
teaching at the school on Monday afternoons
in 2010. Mid-way through the year they were
joined by conductor Mark Shiell, who has
been taking additional aural and theory
classes on Tuesday mornings. Together the
MSO Teaching Artists teach approximately
95 Grade Two and Three students.

MSO/ArtPlay Ensemble Program
The award-winning MSO/ArtPlay Ensemble
program is a unique suite of collaborative
projects between MSO musicians and young
players aged 8 and upwards. The program
focuses on composition and performance,
and complements the young musicians’
instrumental learning by providing
opportunities for intensive development in
composition, improvisation, ensemble skills
and performance, along with access to MSO
rehearsals, performances, conductors and
soloists.
The program aims to develop the whole
musician, with a view to the kinds of skills
and versatility that will be required of
professional musicians in the 21st century.
It is also training a new generation of active,
informed, engaged listeners, building in
participants a life-long appreciation of the
orchestral music tradition.

In 2010, the MSO/ArtPlay Ensemble met
for three intensive school holiday workshops,
each being based on a piece of repertoire
which was being featured in the MSO mainstage programming. The ensemble was made
up of 28 young musicians of varying musical
ability from across Victoria, who were selected
as a result of their positive involvement in an
Open Workshop at the start of the year. Three
participants’ fees were subsidised by the MSO
in order to enable them to take part in the
program.

Saturday Jams with the MSO and
Federation Square
The MSO presented eight Jams in 2010
at the BMW Edge performance space,
Federation Square. In each Jam, over the
course of an hour, participants develop an
original piece of music, using whatever
instruments and ‘sound-makers’ are to
hand. Voices, instruments, hands and feet,
newspapers, chopsticks and other
paraphernalia are put to musical use in
this afternoon workshop for families.
Each workshop culminates in a performance
by participants, which is open to the general
public.

BRONWYN LOBB
Acting Manager, Education and
Community Outreach
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2010 Government and
Private Sector Support

In 2010 the MSO Development team sought
support from a range of sources to deliver
the Orchestra’s many diverse programs,
achieve special projects and nurture the
Company’s long-term future. Widening our
funding base is fundamentally important and
we gratefully acknowledge the expanding
circle of MSO supporters – from individual
donors, philanthropic trusts, corporate
partners and all three levels of government.
The year saw an increase in fundraising
activity, and vital new support, as well as close
involvement with Partners and Donors who
continued their generous involvement.
Philanthropic support grew on the previous
year, while sponsorship revenue contributed
$971,852 in value, from a total of 18
sponsors. This was a slight decline on the
2009 number of sponsors and total
sponsorship dollars, quite possibly due to
the impact of the Global Financial Crisis
on the Melbourne business community.

Partnerships
Private, corporate and government sector
support is fundamental to the success and
financial viability of the Melbourne
Symphony Orchestra.
In 2010 the MSO continued its strong
relationship with Principal Partner, Emirates,
and at the end of 2010 was delighted to
confirm renewal of this partnership for a
further two years until the end of 2012.
The MSO also welcomed Seppelt as a
new beverage sponsor, Epicure as catering
partner and Lindt, who together supported
many of the MSO’s major engagement
and fundraising activities. The MSO
also welcomed Myer as partner of
the Metropolitan Touring program.
This partnership enabled Myer to engage with
key customers in metropolitan Melbourne
and regional Victoria.
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The Melbourne Symphony Orchestra was
very honoured to receive a special gift of
$50,000 from Cheung Kong Group and
Powercor in 2010 in recognition of their
ten-year partnership servicing Victorian
communities. In keeping with the tradition
of generously supporting MSO regional
touring, education and community
engagement, Cheung Kong Group and
Powercor kindly directed this special gift
towards the MSO Education Conductor
position, held by Benjamin Northey. The
MSO is very grateful for this special gift to
ensure the delivery of great music to the
people of Melbourne, Victoria and beyond.
We also acknowledge the ongoing
relationships with continuing sponsors and
thank all our Corporate Partners for helping
us make 2010 a wonderful and rewarding
year.

Government
All levels of government provided invaluable
on-going support for the Orchestra. The
MSO would particularly like to acknowledge
the contributions from the Australia Council
for the Arts, Arts Victoria and the City of
Melbourne. Their support is vital to our
continued success, and is particularly
gratifying as an acknowledgment of the
MSO’s dedication to providing the best
possible live orchestral experience for its
diverse audiences.

Game Day Gala
In June 2010 the MSO held its highly
enjoyable and successful Annual Fundraising
event. Presented by Principal Partner
Emirates, the Game Day Gala centred
on the MSO Pops Sporting Scores concert.
An entertaining evening of music and sport
was enjoyed by more than 270 of the
Orchestra’s Patrons and corporate partners.
In the spirit of any great sporting event,
one of the evening’s highlights included
a celebrity panel, consisting of MSO
Concertmaster, Wilma Smith; MSO
Chairman Harold Mitchell AC; CEO of
the Melbourne Rebels Pat Wilson, and
Melbourne Heart soccer player Jason
Hoffman. MC for the night, Ian Cover,
led a fun conversation focusing on the
links between sport and music.
The event included a live auction and pledge,
with all funds raised directed to the MSO’s
Education Program. More than $190,000 was
raised including $50,000 in pledge donations
in support of the MSO’s inaugural Education
Week in 2011.

Melbourne events
The MSO continued its engagement with
the wider community through its
participation in key Melbourne events.
A wonderful group of MSO musicians
played at the Myer catwalk parade as part
of the L’Oreal Melbourne Fashion Festival
in March, and the orchestra also featured
at the first of the AFL Grand Finals.
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Kee Wong and Wai Tang
at the MSO Game Day Gala

Fundraising activities
As well as this major annual fundraising
event, we hosted numerous events throughout
the year, ranging from concert-based
functions to informal, intimate opportunities
for our supporters to meet with artists
and enjoy a close involvement with the
Orchestra’s world.
A series of successful events, as part of the
MSO’s Corporate Company program,
were held throughout the season,
contributing over $80,000 in revenue.
Highlights included the Beethoven Masters
Dinner, Some Enchanted Evening and the
French Connections Soiree, the last of these
featuring soloist Jean-Yves Thibaudet.
Enjoying the breadth of these special
occasions, and new to the MSO were
Victoria Racing Club Members Events,
Melbourne Convention and Visitors
Bureau, and prospective partners and donors.
A further highlight in our year was the
Annual MSO Golf Day, again hosted by
Commonwealth Golf Club, with teams made
up golf-loving MSO Partners, Donors and
musicians.

MSO FOUNDATION
The MSO Foundation relies upon the
generous support of donors, who through
their annual pledges and bequests, contribute
to the Orchestra’s artistic independence and
long-term sustainability. The Foundation
permanently strengthens the MSO and its
role in creating an inspiring future in our
community, and in 2010 we were pleased to
secure commitments totalling $500,000. It is
our pleasure to particularly acknowledge the
MSO Patrons and MSO Conductor’s Circle
members for their special role in building
the MSO Foundation reserve.

MSO quartet performing at the reception for long-term supporters at Sofitel on Collins

SPECIAL PROJECTS
Many projects need specific support. In 2010
these included purchase of a new Steinway
Concert Grand piano, a new portable staging
system, and the Orchestra’s inspiring
Education and Artist Development projects.
These exciting projects contribute directly to
the MSO’s high standard of artistic
achievement, and it was exciting to attract
much-needed support through the year with
a variety of fundraising efforts.
As well as our annual Instrument Fund
Appeal and other targeted campaigns which
reached out to a cross-section of the MSO
family, we were very pleased to have the
generous support of specific grants from
Trusts and Foundations, including the
Cybec Foundation, the Schapper Family
Foundation, the Ivor Ronald Evans
Foundation administered by Equity Trustees,
and the Matana Foundation for Young
People. Each of these grants played an
important role in creating pathways for young
people and emerging artists to expand their
horizons through participation with the
Orchestra’s education and artist development
programs.

Importantly, The Pratt Family Foundation’s
pledge to our Education and Artist
Development programs commenced in
2010 and underpinned a wonderful program
delivered to more than 20,000 young people.

MSO Orchestra Chairs
The MSO Orchestra Chair Campaign
initiated in 2010 focuses on major multi-year
gifts, a form of support of the utmost
importance to the Orchestra’s strategic
development. The program provides unique
opportunities for direct and close associations
between major donors and some of the most
brilliant orchestral musicians in the country.
We were privileged to achieve the first
milestone in this new campaign as the year
closed, with two major gifts pledged for the
period 2011-2013: The Harold Mitchell AC
Concertmaster Chair and the Patricia
Riordan Associate Conductor Chair.
We look forward to working with our
committed supporters again in 2011, and
thank all our Corporate Partners and Donors
for their generous involvement and support.
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DONORS

at 31 december 2010

Impresario ($20,000+ annually)
John McKay and Lois McKay
Bevelly and Harold Mitchell AC
Dame Elisabeth Murdoch AC DBE
Maestro ($10,000+ annually)
M P Chipman
Andrew and Theresa Dyer
Rachel and Hon. Alan Goldberg AO QC
Matsarol Foundation
Onbass Foundation
Elizabeth Proust AO
Michael and Jenny Ullmer
Matthew VanBesien and Rosie Jowitt
Principal ($5000+ annually)
Kaye and David Birks
Jill and Robert Grogan
Hartmut and Ruth Hofmann
Peter and Jenny Hordern
Norman and Betty Lees
Mr and Mrs D R Meagher
Ian and Jeannie Paterson
Mrs Margaret S. Ross AM
Joy Selby Smith
Kee Wong and Wai Tang
Anonymous (3)
Associate ($2500+ annually)
Dr Bronte Adams
Will and Dorothy Bailey Bequest
Peter and Mary Biggs
Mr John Brockman OAM and Mrs Pat Brockman
Paul Carter
The Cuming Bequest
Peter and Leila Doyle
Tim and Lyn Edward
Dr Helen M Ferguson
Susan Fry and Don Fry AO
Robert and Jan Green
John and Agita Haddad
Nereda Hanlon and Michael Hanlon AM
Susan and Gary Hearst
Michael and Gillian Hund
Alwynne Jona OAM
Mimie MacLaren
Bill and Pat Melleuish
Wayne and Penny Morgan
Marie Morton
Dr Paul Nisselle AM
Ann Peacock
Maria Sola and Malcolm Douglas
Gai and David Taylor
Mr Tam Vu and Dr Cherilyn Tillman
Lyn Williams AM
Joanne Wolff
Anonymous (2)
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Player ($1000+ annually)
Marlyn and Peter Bancroft OAM
Mr Marc Besen AO and Mrs Eva Besen AO
Mrs S Bignell
Stephen and Caroline Brain
M Ward Breheny
Jennifer Brukner
Jill and Christopher Buckley
Jan and Peter Clark
Judith M Connelly
Leslie J Darby and Miss Ann Darby
Panch Das and Laurel Young-Das
Pat and Bruce Davis
William J Forrest AM
Brian Gallery
David I Gibbs and Susie O’Neill
Merwyn and Greta Goldblatt
Colin Golvan SC
George H Golvan QC
Dr Marged Goode
Jean Hadges
Louis Hamon OAM
Peter Hartnell
Tilda and Brian Haughney
Hans and Petra Henkell
In memory of Ruth Hill
Dr Alastair Jackson
Stuart Jennings and Diana Mummë
Dr Elizabeth A Lewis AM
Norman Lewis in memory of Dr Phyllis Lewis
Jeff Loewenstein
Rosemary Madden
Sandra and Leigh Masel
Dr Gabriele Medley AM
Jan Minchin
The Novy Family
Laurence O’Keefe and Christopher James
Lady Potter AC
David Richards
Hugh T Rogers AM
Elzbieta and Tomasz Romanowski
Delina Schembri-Hardy
Max and Jill Schultz
Alan and Carol Schwartz
David Shavin QC
Gary Singer and Geoffrey A Smith
Dr Robert Sloane and Denise Sloane
Mr Sam Smorgon AO and
Mrs Minnie Smorgon
Charles Sowerwine and Susan Foley
Mrs Suzy and Dr Mark Suss
Margaret Tritsch
Mrs Barbara Tucker
P and E Turner
Bert and Ila Vanrenen
Hon. Rosemary Varty
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Sue Walker AM
Mrs Elaine Walters OAM and Mr Gregory Walters
Hon. Michael Watt QC and Cecilie Hall
Barbara and Donald Weir KSJ
Erna Werner and Neil Werner OAM
Willcock Family
Marian and Terry Wills Cooke
Ruth Wisniak and Prof John Miller AO
Peter and Susan Yates
Anonymous (9)
MSO Conductor’s Circle
Jenny Anderson
Joyce Bown
Kenneth Bullen
Luci and Ron Chambers
Sandra Dent
Lyn Edward
Alan Egan JP
Ms Susan Henshall
Tony Howe
John and Joan Jones
Elizabeth Proust AO
Penny Rawlins
Joan P Robinson
Miss Sheila Scotter AM MBE
Molly Stephens
Pamela Swansson
Dr Cherilyn Tillman
Mr and Mrs R P Trebilcock
Michael Ullmer
Mr Tam Vu
Marian and Terry Wills Cooke
Mark Young
Anonymous (24)
The MSO gratefully acknowledges the support
received from the Estates of Peter Forbes MacLaren,
Herta and Fred B Vogel, Jean Tweedie, Gwen Hunt
and Prof Andrew McCredie.
MSO Special Project Supporters
The Pratt Family Foundation
The Cybec Foundation
Schapper Family Foundation
Ivor Ronald Evans Foundation
The Matana Foundation
Rob Cossom
Honorary Life Members
John Brockman OAM
Professor John Hopkins OBE
Sir Elton John

Key Performance Statistics

In 2010 the Melbourne Symphony Orchestra gave 157 performances to an audience of 181,387.
TOTAL AUDIENCE

MUSICIANS (FTES) – AVERAGE THROUGHOUT YEAR

2009
2010
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2009
2010
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TOTAL PAID ATTENDANCE
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SCHOOL CONCERT ATTENDANCES
including Regional school concerts and Family Classic Kids

12

10

2009
2010
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REGIONAL PAID ATTENDANCE including Geelong series
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The MSO in performance at Costa Hall, Geelong

Powercor Regional Touring

Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 december 2010

The Directors present their report together with the financial report of Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited for the year ended
31st December 2010 and the auditor’s report thereon.
DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the financial year and until the date of this report were as follows:
Mr H Mitchell AC (Chairman)
Director since 27 November 2008
Mr T Green (Managing Director)
Director since 5 February 1999 (ceased 29 January 2010)
Mr M VanBesien (Managing Director) Director since 15 February 2010
Hon. A Goldberg, AO QC
Director since 15 March 2000
Dr B Adams
Director since 24 November 2004
Mr P Biggs
Director since 1 January 2007
Ms A Peacock
Director since 1 January 2007
Mr M Ullmer
Director since 1 January 2007
Mr K Wong
Director since 1 January 2007
Mr A McKean
Director since 23 March 2009
Cr J Kanis
Director since 23 March 2009
COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr O Carton

Appointed 13 February 2004

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company during the year was the performance of symphonic music. There were no significant changes in the nature
of the activities of the Company during the year.
REVIEW AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The operating result for the year ended 31 December 2010 was a surplus of $31,420 (equivalent result for the year ended 31 December 2009
was a loss of $869,901).
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited presented 157 performances during the twelve months ended 31 December 2010. The majority
of the concerts were held in Melbourne.
STATE OF AFFAIRS
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company that occurred during the financial year
under review.
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Company’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either Commonwealth or State legislation.
However, the Board believes that the Company has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental requirements and
is not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements, as they apply to the Company.
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
The Victorian government announced in September 2008 that MSO’s primary concert venue Hamer Hall will be renovated as part of a
$129m upgrade of the Victorian Arts Centre. Accordingly, Hamer Hall closed from July 2010 for a period of approximately 2 years. The Board
and management of the Company are continuing to liaise with relevant stakeholders to ensure that any negative financial consequences of the
closure will be minimised.
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Directors’ Report CONT.
for the year ended 31 december 2010

The Company will continue to present performances of symphonic and other orchestral music during the next financial year, with performances
currently scheduled to be presented during this period. The Company’s continuing success is dependent on increasing its current level of
government funding, corporate sponsorship, ticket sales and philanthropy.
DIVIDENDS
No dividends were paid, declared or recommended during or since the end of the financial year.
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS
Indemnification
Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company has not indemnified, nor made a relevant agreement for indemnifying against a liability,
any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the Company.
Insurance premiums
During the financial year, the Company has paid premiums in respect of Directors’ and officers’ liability, legal expenses and insurance contracts
for the year ended 31 December 2010. Since the end of the financial year, the Company has paid or agreed to pay premiums in respect of such
insurance contracts for the year ended 31 December 2011. Such insurance contracts insure persons who are or have been directors or officers of
the Company against certain liabilities (subject to certain exclusions).
Directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid as such disclosure is prohibited
under the terms of the contract.
EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE
No events have occurred subsequent to balance date that materially affect the accounts and are not already reflected in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position.
AUDITORS INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO THE DIRECTORS
OF MELBOURNE SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA PTY LIMITED
The Directors have received a declaration from the auditor which is attached to this report.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Harold Mitchell AO
Chairman
Melbourne
30 March 2011
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 december 2010

Note
REVENUES
Funding revenue direct from government
Funding revenue from parent (MSOHL)
Ticket sales
Sponsorship and donation revenue
Other revenues

EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Artists fees and expenses
Marketing expenses
Production expenses
Selling expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Management fee
Other expenses

3a
3b
4
5
6

11

2010
$

2009
$

1,844,210
11,861,976
6,750,193
1,844,580
1,535,939
23,836,898

541,061
11,520,012
7,856,828
1,670,679
1,560,537
23,149,117

13,677,794
2,513,141
2,194,238
2,879,696
365,310
120,636
357,649
1,697,014

13,444,985
3,508,054
1,803,399
2,508,392
501,802
143,529
347,882
1,760,975

23,805,478

24,019,018

Net Profit / (Loss)

31,420

(869,901)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

31,420

(869,901)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 december 2010

Note

2010
$

2009
$

16
10
8
9

4,099,177
5,967,782
260,336
1,144,833

1,929,898
6,785,674
356,359
1,175,173

11,472,128

10,247,104

28,046
410,656

28,046
290,183

438,702

318,229

11,910,830

10,565,333

5,108,902
2,488,862

3,854,071
2,457,866

7,597,764

6,311,937

336,873

308,623

336,873

308,623

TOTAL LIABILITIES

7,934,637

6,620,560

NET ASSETS

3,976,193

3,944,773

438,002
1,639,917
3,237,772
(1,339,498)

438,002
1,394,388
3,105,778
(993,395)

3,976,193

3,944,773

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Other financial assets
Receivables
Other
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables
Plant and equipment

8
11

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables
Provisions

12
14

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions

14

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Contributed equity
MSO Foundation
MSO RIS Reserve
Retained surplus / (accumulated deficit)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

15
23b
23c
23a

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of changeS in equity
for the year ended 31 december 2010

Contributed
Equity
(Note 15)
$

Retained
Surplus /
(deficit)
(Note 23)
$

Foundation
Reserve
(Note 23)
$

MSO RIS
Reserve

Total
Equity

(Note 23)
$

$

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
As at 31 December 2008
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year
Transferred to reserves
As at 31 December 2009
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year
Transferred to reserves
As at 31 December 2010

438,002

1,313,195

3,063,477

-

(869,901)
(123,494)

-

81,193

42,301

4,814,674

438,002

(993,395)

1,394,388

3,105,778

3,944,773

-

31,420
(377,523)

245,529

131,994

31,420
-

438,002

(1,339,498)

1,639,917

3,237,772

3,976,193

(869,901)
-

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 december 2010

Note
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts in the course of operations
Cash payments in the course of operations
Grants received from government funding bodies
Interest received

2010
$

2009
$

9,116,177
(22,130,748)
14,332,283
142,788

9,996,333
(23,569,736)
12,271,172
241,936

NET CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

16b

1,460,500

(1,060,295)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Monies placed on Term Deposit
Proceeds from Term Deposit maturity
Payment for property, plant and equipment

10
10
11

(444,500)
1,394,388
(241,109)

(3,679,895)
(150,752)

708,779

(3,830,647)

NET CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

-

-

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH HELD

2,169,279

(4,890,942)

Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

1,929,898

6,820,840

4,099,177

1,929,898

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

16a

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Page 36

2010 Melbourne Symphony Orchestra – Annual Report

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 december 2010

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The financial report of Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited for the year ended 31 December 2010 was authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of Directors on 26 March 2011.
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited is a proprietary limited company incorporated in Australia. The ultimate parent of
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited is Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited.
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited is a public company limited by guarantee and was incorporated in Australia on
19 October 2006 and subsequently purchased all shares in Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited from the Australian Broadcasting
Corporation for Ten Dollars.
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Company are described in the Directors’ Report.

2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Basis of preparation
The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical costs and, except where stated, does not take into account changing money
values or fair values of non-current assets.
These accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Company and, except where there has been a change in accounting policy,
are consistent with those of the previous period.
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified to achieve consistency in disclosure with current financial year amounts
and other disclosures.
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.

b) Statement of compliance
Compliance with IFRS
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective
There are a number of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective,
and have not been early adopted by the Company for the financial report for the year ending 31 December 2010. The Company does not expect
the impact of these standards and interpretations to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position and performance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 december 2010

2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
c) Revenue recognition
Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST) payable to the taxation
authority. Exchanges of goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash consideration are not recognised as revenues.
Ticket Sales
Ticket sales are recognised at the time of concert performance. The value of tickets sold in advance of each concert is recorded as unearned income.
Sponsorship revenue
Sponsorship revenue is recognised during the period in which sponsorship benefits are provided. Sponsorship revenue is traditionally paid in
advance – the value of unearned sponsorship revenue is recognised as a liability.
Funding revenue
Funding revenue comprises funding from the Australia Council for the Arts and the State Government of Victoria through the Ministry
for the Arts and the City of Melbourne.
Funding revenue was received from the Australia Council for the Arts through the Major Performing Arts Board, and the Victoria Ministry for the
Arts, through Arts Victoria, under the terms of the Tripartite Funding Agreement entered into in January 2007 and the Deeds of Variation dated
22 December 2009 and 23 December 2010. Funding is received based on payment schedules contained in those agreements between the funding
bodies and Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Ltd. The agreement was entered into for the five years ending 31 December 2011.
Funding revenue is recognised when due under the terms of the funding agreement. Special purpose funding, which requires the Company to fulfil
an obligation outside its normal operations, is recognised at the time the obligation is fulfilled.
Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset.
Sale of non-current assets
The gross proceeds of non-current asset sales are included as revenue at the date control of the asset passes to the buyer, usually when an
unconditional contract of sale is signed.
The surplus or deficit on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net
proceeds on disposal.

d) Taxation and Goods and Services Tax Revenue recognition
The Company is exempt from income tax as it is an exempt charitable institution in accordance with Subdivision 50-B of the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997.
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred
is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or
as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the Statement of Financial Position. Cash flows are included in the
statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable
from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
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e) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, including short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less, are carried at face value of the amounts
deposited. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, including short-term deposits, approximate net fair value.

f ) Receivables
Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less an allowance for any impairment.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts that are known to be uncollectible are written off when identified.
An allowance for doubtful debts is raised when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect the debt. Management
consider such objective evidence to include, but not be limited to formal correspondence from a trade receivable indicating its inability to repay
the amount outstanding.

g) Other financial assets
Investment held in reserve and term deposits that do not meet the definition of Cash and Cash Equivalents are recorded at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method where the amount is materially different from the face value of the investment and term deposit.
Otherwise the investment held in the reserve and term deposits are recorded at face value.

h) Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered impairment are tested for possible reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the
impairment may have reversed.

i) Plant and equipment
All items of plant and equipment are carried at their historical cost of acquisition, being the fair value of the consideration provided plus the
incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition, less any accumulated impairment losses, less accumulated depreciation, and recoverable
amount.
Subsequent additional costs
Costs incurred on assets subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the
originally assessed performance of the asset, will flow to the Company in future years.
Costs that do not meet the criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred.
The residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods of all items of plant and equipment are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate,
at each financial year-end.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 december 2010

2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
j) Depreciation
Useful lives
Items of plant and equipment, leasehold improvements, computer equipment and musical instruments are depreciated using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives. Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition. Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed
annually for appropriateness. Depreciation is expensed.
The depreciation rates used for each class of asset are as follows:
Asset class
Plant & equipment
Musical instruments
Computer equipment

Depreciation rates
10% - 20%
10% - 20%
20% - 30%

k) Leased plant and equipment
Leases of plant and equipment are classified as operating leases as the lessors retain substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership.
Minimum lease payments are charged against statement of comprehensive income over the accounting periods covered by the lease terms except
where an alternative basis would be more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.

l) Payables
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior
to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Company becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase
of these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

m) Employee benefits
Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for employee entitlement to wages, salaries and annual leave represent present obligation resulting from employees’ services provided up
to the balance date. The provisions have been calculated at un-discounted amounts based on rates expected to be paid out for wages and salaries
and include related on-costs
Long service leave
The provision for employee benefits to long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the
employer resulting from employees’ services provided up to the reporting date.
The provision is calculated using estimated future increases in wage and salary rates, including related on-costs, and expected settlement rates based
on turnover history and is discounted using the rates attaching to national government securities at balance date which most closely match the
terms of maturity of the related liabilities.

n) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities,
revenue and expenses. The following critical accounting policies have been identified for which significant judgements, estimates and assumptions
are made.
Provision for employee benefits
Probabilities regarding staff turnover, when staff take leave and future wage rates are based on historical experience.
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2010
$

2009
$

125,583
774,840
635,387
308,400

122,760
20,000
98,301
300,000

1,844,210

541,061

9,504,570
62,142
2,280,402
14,862

9,290,880
2,229,132
-

11,861,976

11,520,012

13,706,186

12,061,073

3. FUNDING REVENUE
a) Direct funding (MSOPL)
Arts Victoria - Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Chorus Grant
Arts Victoria - Thomanercor Grant
Arts Victoria - Hamer Hall Closure Revenue impacts funding
Arts Victoria - Hamer Hall Closure Expense impacts funding
City of Melbourne - Annual Grant

b) Funding from parent (MSOHL)
Australia Council for the Arts - Annual Grant
Australia Council for the Arts - Orchestra Review Implementation Grant
Arts Victoria - Annual Grant
Arts Victoria - Orchestra Review Implementation Grant

Total Funding

Provision of funds by Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited to Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited is in respect of funds
payable as a result of the Orchestra Review Implementation Funding Agreement. It originates from federal and state governments, through the
Australia Council for the Arts and Arts Victoria and is paid to Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited. A funding agreement between
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited and Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited provides the basis for the funds to be passed
to Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited.

4. TICKET SALES REVENUE
Subscription sales
Single night ticket sales

3,287,706
3,462,487

4,041,953
3,814,875

6,750,193

7,856,828
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2010
$

2009
$

971,852
767,597
12,831
92,300

1,098,200
392,412
3,780
176,287

1,844,580

1,670,679

142,788
402,111
724,384
266,656

241,937
258,203
798,781
261,616

1,535,939

1,560,537

723
12,585
37,645
69,683

3,194
5,599
47,873
86,863

120,636

143,529

1,698,819

1,721,927

-

2,598

34,044

44,465

5. SPONSORSHIP AND DONATION REVENUE
Sponsorship
Donations
Bequests
Grants from foundations

6. OTHER REVENUE
Interest income, other parties - cash and cash equivalents
Interest income, other parties - other financial assets
Orchestral hire
Other

7. NET PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
Net Profit / (Loss) for the year has been arrived at after charging the following items:
Depreciation:
Plant and equipment
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Computers
Musical instruments

Superannuation expense
Deficit on disposal of non-current assets
Operating lease rental expenses
Lease payments - office equipment
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2010
$

2009
$

103,356
156,980

284,260
72,099

260,336

356,359

28,046

28,046

28,046

28,046

Trade and other debtors ageing:
0 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 90 days

100,962
30,440

279,977
32,329

Total trade and other receivables

131,402

312,306

8. RECEIVABLES
a) Trade and other receivables
Current
Trade receivables
GST receivable

Non-current
Other receivables

b) Past due but not impaired

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled in 30 days. Other receivables amounts generally arise from transactions outside
the usual operating activities of the Company.

9. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments
Accrued income
Total Other Current Assets

803,978
340,855

850,489
324,684

1,144,833

1,175,173

3,237,775
2,730,007

3,105,779
3,679,895

5,967,782

6,785,674

10. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Investment held in RIS Reserve
Term deposits with maturity more than 90 days at year end

Investment held in the Reserves Incentive Scheme reserve of $3,237,775 (2009: $3,105,779) comprise funds which are set aside, unencumbered
and held in escrow, for 15 years until the 3rd June 2019 (details explained at note (23c).
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11. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and
equipment
$

Musical
instruments
$

Office
equipment
$

Cost:
Opening balance
Additions
Disposal

103,592
-

909,856
239,461
-

65,008
-

231,720
1,648
(6,364)

1,310,176
241,109
(6,364)

Closing balance

103,592

1,149,317

65,008

227,004

1,544,921

Accumulated depreciation:
Opening balance
Depreciation expense
Disposal

102,869
723
-

750,030
69,683
-

10,984
12,585
-

156,110
37,645
(6,364)

1,019,993
120,636
(6,364)

Closing balance

103,592

819,713

23,569

187,391

1,134,265

-

329,604

41,439

39,613

410,656

723

159,826

54,024

75,610

290,183

Net book value, 31 December 2010
Net book value, 31 December 2009

Computer
equipment
$

Total
$

2010
$

2009
$

Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Prepaid subscription revenue
Prepaid government funding revenue - refer note 13
Prepaid other revenue

947,656
651,409
2,176,364
875,878
457,595

299,518
719,311
2,405,622
308,400
121,220

Total payables (ageing: all 0 to 60 days)

5,108,902

3,854,071

12. PAYABLES

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled in 30 days.

Page 44

2010 Melbourne Symphony Orchestra – Annual Report

13. PREPAID GOVERNMENT FUNDING REVENUE

As at 1 January 2010
Funds received (see note below)
Interest earned on funds
(where applicable)
Amounts recognised as income
relating to prior year - note 3
Amounts recognised as income
relating to current year - note 3
As at 31 December 2010

Arts Victoria Hamer Hall Closure
Revenue
Expense
impacts
impacts
Funding
Funding
$
$

Arts
Victoria

Australia Council
for the Arts

760,000

1,193,000

29,455

123,163

308,400
316,110

308,400
2,421,728

17,840

21,843

-

-

-

39,683

Orchestra Review
Implementation Grant
$
$

City of
Melbourne
Annual Grant
$

(98,301)

Total Prepaid
Government
Funding
$

(98,301)

(774,840)

(635,387)

(14,862)

(62,143)

(308,400)

(1,795,632)

3,000

481,155

14,593

61,020

316,110

875,878

Funds received from Arts Victoria regarding Hamer Hall Closure (revenue and expense impacts) are subject to the terms and conditions of the
separate respective agreements.
Funds received from the Australia Council for the Arts and Arts Victoria relating to the Orchestral Review Implementation grant are held in
escrow and have not been used to secure any liabilities by the Melbourne Symphony Orchestra.
Note

2010
$

2009
$

17

2,488,862

2,457,866

2,488,862

2,457,866

336,873

308,623

336,873

308,623

14. PROVISIONS
Current
Employee benefits

Non-current
Employee benefits

17
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2010
$

2009
$

15. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Share capital
438,002 (2009: 438,002) ordinary shares, fully paid

438,002

438,002

438,002

438,002

On 31 December 2006 Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited purchased all shares of Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited
that were previously held by the Australian Broadcasting Corporation.

16. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank and short-term deposits at call.
Cash assets as at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows are as follows:
Cash
Cash equivalents

2,402,327
1,696,850

1,229,898
700,000

4,099,177

1,929,898

Short term deposits mature within 30-90 days and pay interest at a weighted average interest rate of 5.02% (2009: 4.63%).
Cash equivalents at year end of $1,696,850 (2009: $700,000) include short term deposits which had a maturity date of less than three months
at year end. At the end of 2010, investments of $2,730,007 were reclassified as other financial assets (refer note 10) as the maturity dates of these
deposits were greater than three months.

b) Reconciliation of surplus from ordinary activities to net cash provided by operating activities
Surplus / (deficit) from ordinary activities
Less items classified as investing / financing activities:
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Add / (deduct) non-cash items:
Depreciation
Interest on other financial assets

120,636
(450,726)

143,529
(258,203)

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities before change in assets and liabilities

(298,670)

(981,977)

96,022
46,511
302,561
580,235
674,595
59,246

(146,976)
(158,829)
197,693
(50,452)
(42,406)
122,652

1,460,500

(1,060,295)

Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) / decrease in receivables
(Increase) / decrease in prepayments
(Increase) / decrease in accrued income
Increase / (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase / (decrease) in prepaid revenue
Increase / (decrease) in provisions
Net cash flows provided by / (used in) operating activities
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31,420
-

(869,901)
2,598

2010
$

2009
$

2,488,862
336,873

2,457,866
308,623

2,825,735

2,766,489

17. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Current
Non-current

Aggregate employee benefits presented above include on-costs. The present value of employee benefits not expected to be settled within twelve
months of balance date have been calculated using the following weighted averages:
Assumed rate of increase in wage and salary rates
Discount rate
Settlement rate
Full-time equivalent employees at year-end

3.0%
5.7%
10 years
140.12

3.0%
5.1%
10 years
132.5

18. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
a) Details of Key Management Personnel
(i) Directors
Name
Mr H Mitchell AC
Mr T Green
Mr M VanBesien
Hon. A Goldberg, AO QC
Dr B Adams
Mr P Biggs
Ms A Peacock
Mr M Ullmer
Mr K Wong
Mr A McKean
Cr J Kanis

Position Held
Chairman
Managing Director – ceased 29 January 2010
Managing Director – appointed 15 February 2010
Deputy Chairman
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

Board Meeting Attendances
4 out of a possible 5
0 out of a possible 0
5 out of a possible 5
5 out of a possible 5
4 out of a possible 5
3 out of a possible 5
5 out of a possible 5
4 out of a possible 5
4 out of a possible 5
5 out of a possible 5
5 out of a possible 5

(ii) Executives
Name
Mr H Humphreys
Ms L Oppenheim
Mr W Box
Mr F Hughes
Ms C Le Cornu
Ms M Hagan

Position Held
Director of Artistic Planning
Director of Operations
Chief Financial Officer
Director of Commercial Development – ceased 1 December 2010
Director of Marketing – ceased 4 August 2010
Director of Marketing – appointed 3 November 2010
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2010
$

2009
$

944,907
91,316
178,094

964,178
111,747
-

1,214,317

1,075,925

18. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (CONTINUED)
b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel
Short-term employee benefits
Other long-term benefits
Post-employment benefits
Termination benefits

Payments made to Directors are for their contributions as employees of the Company and not for their additional services as Directors.

c) Other transactions and balances with key management personnel
There were no significant transactions between the Company and key management personnel.

19. RELATED PARTIES
a) Directors
The names of each person holding the position of Director of Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited during the financial year are:
Mr H Mitchell AC, Mr T Green (ceased 29 January 2010), Mr M VanBesien (appointed 15 February, 2010), Hon. A Goldberg AO QC,
Dr B Adams, Mr P Biggs, Ms A Peacock, Mr M Ullmer, Mr K Wong, Mr A McKean, Cr J Kanis.
Unless otherwise stated, the directors have been in office for the financial year. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in note 18.
No Director has entered into a material contract with the Company since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material
contracts involving Directors’ interest subsisting at year-end.

b) Wholly-owned group
The ultimate holding company of Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited (MSOPL) is Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited
(MSOHL) which owns 100% of the equity in the Company. The Directors of MSOHL are also Directors of MSOPL. An agreement between
MSOHL and MSOPL exists whereby MSOHL has agreed to fund MSOPL via contributions from the Australia Council for the Arts through
the Major Performing Arts Board and the Victoria Ministry for the Arts through Arts Victoria. A service agreement that is governed by the
contents of the Tripartite Agreement exists between the two entities MSOHL and MSOPL. Corporate costs associated with MSOHL have
been met by MSOPL.

c) Other related parties
Sponsorship from Director-related entities is on terms and conditions no more favourable than those offered to other sponsors.
Cr Jennifer Kanis is a councillor of the City of Melbourne which also makes grants to the Company for various purposes (note 3).
Total grants from the City of Melbourne in 2010 were $308,400 (2009 grants were $300,000).
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2010
$

2009
$

20. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
Audit of the financial report

30,000

30,000

30,000

30,000

548,007
-

705,555
-

548,007

705,555

15,733
39,358

26,287
3,341

55,091

29,628

76,309
-

57,833
50,508

76,309

108,341

204,597
257,127

198,015
461,559

461,724

659,574

No other benefits were received by the auditor.

21. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
Artists fees contracted, but not provided for, and payable:
Within one year
One year or later, but not later than five years

Office equipment lease expenditure committed as per agreements:
Within one year
One year or later, but not later than five years

Consulting (Professional Services) contracts as per agreements:
Within one year
One year or later, but not later than five years

Rental leases committed as per agreements (Administrative and Box Office premises):
Within one year
One year or later, but not later than five years

The Company has provided the lessor of the MSO Box Office with a bank guarantee of $15,657 (2009: $15,657) which can be drawn upon by
the lessor in the event that the Company does not meet its contractual obligations under the lease agreement.
Expenditure commitments are contracted up to the follow dates:
• Artist fees – 31st December, 2011
• Office equipment – 22nd August, 2014
• IT maintenance – 15th October, 2011
• Office rent – 30th June, 2013
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents (refer note 15) together with trade and other receivables
(refer note 8) and trade and other payables (refer note 12), which arise directly from its operations.
The capital of the Company comprises Shareholders’ Equity which in turn comprises Contributed Equity, Retained Profits / (accumulated deficit)
and the Foundation and MSO RIS reserves (refer note 23 for further details). The Board manages capital by way of a thorough budgeting and
reporting cycle of financial results, together with strategic meetings and the utilisation of various Board sub-committees.
The key financial risk factors that arise from the company’s activities, including policies for managing these risks are outlined below.

a) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risks that the value of a financial instrument or future cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate due
to movements in market interest rates.
Interest rate risk exposures
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk and classes of financial assets are set out below:
Floating
Interest
rate
$

Fixed interest maturing in:
1 Year
1 to 5
More than
or less
Years
5 Years
$
$
$

NonInterest
bearing
$

Total
$

31 December 2010
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - refer note 16a
Other financial assets - refer note 10

2,401,274
-

1,696,850
5,967,782

-

-

1,053
-

4,099,177
5,967,782

2,401,274

7,664,632

-

-

1,053

10,066,959

1,227,898
-

700,000
-

6,785,674

-

2,000
-

1,929,898
6,785,674

1,227,898

700,000

6,785,674

-

2,000

8,715,572

31 December 2009
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - refer note 16a
Other financial assets - refer note 10

The Company manages exposure to interest rate risk by monitoring cash flows on a weekly basis and assessing fixed short term deposit interest
rates on offer. Amounts are then set aside on fixed short term deposits.
Sensitivity analysis
A sensitivity analysis of the effect of interest rate movements on financial assets and liabilities was not undertaken as the prospective impacts
were not considered to be material at balance date.

b) Net fair value
The net fair value of financial assets and liabilities at the balance date are those disclosed in the statement of financial position and related notes.
This is because either the carrying amounts approximate net fair value or because of their short term to maturity.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
c) Credit risk
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
those assets as indicated in the statement of financial position and related notes.
The Company has exposure to credit risk on all financial assets included in the Company’s statement of financial position. To help manage this
risk, the Company has:
• limited trade receivables;
• a policy for establishing credit limits for entities it deals with; and
• may require collateral where appropriate.
In addition, the Company restricts investment monies to AA rated Australian banks.
The Company’s credit risk is mainly concentrated across a number of customers. The Company does not have any significant risk exposure
to a single or group of customers. Refer to note 8 for an ageing analysis of trade receivables. Based on the credit history of these classes, it is
expected that these amounts will be received when due.

d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company cannot meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. The Company is exposed to
liquidity risk via its trade and other payables (refer note 12) and having cash and cash equivalents invested on fixed short-term deposits
for periods of the year. To minimise this risk, the Company monitors cash flow on a weekly basis and strictly limits exposure to trade and
other receivables.
2010
$

2009
$

23. RESERVES
a) Retained surplus / (accumulated deficit)
Retained surplus at the beginning of the year
Surplus / (deficit) from ordinary activities for the year
Transfer of interest earned on and donations to the MSO Foundation Reserve
Transfer of interest earned on RIS Reserve
Retained surplus / (accumulated deficit) at year end

(993,395)
31,420
(245,529)
(131,994)

(869,901)
(81,193)
(42,301)

(1,339,498)

(993,395)

b) MSO Foundation Reserve
The purpose of the MSO Foundation Reserve is to accumulate capital to ensure the long-term viability and financial security of the Melbourne
Symphony Orchestra. The interest accrued on the investment of the Fund, and the capital as permitted in its constitution, may be used for
MSO projects that come within the purposes of the MSO Articles of Association.
Opening balance
Transfer from Retained surplus / (accumulated deficit)

1,394,388
245,529

1,313,195
81,193

Accumulated funds at year end

1,639,917

1,394,388
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2010
$

2009
$

23. RESERVES (CONTINUED)
c) MSO Reserves Incentives Scheme Reserve
The Reserves Incentives Scheme (RIS) is designed to encourage and assist major performing arts companies to strengthen their balance sheets by
building reserves to a level that is sufficient to underpin their financial health and provide a base from which can be taken appropriate artistic and
access risks.
The Australia Council and the Victorian Government have, together with the Company, contributed funds which are set aside, unencumbered
and subject to the terms and conditions of the Reserves Incentives Scheme Funding Agreement. All income received on the funds received must
be re-invested with the funds received and held in escrow for 15 years. These funds are not accessible to the Company until 3rd June 2019 and
have not been used to secure any liabilities of the Company.
Opening balance
Transfer from Retained surplus / (accumulated deficit)

3,105,778
131,994

3,063,477
42,301

Accumulated funds at year end

3,237,772

3,105,778

24. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY
Provision of federal and state funding via the parent company, Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited, to Melbourne Symphony
Orchestra Pty Limited is in respect of funds payable as a result of the Orchestra Review Implementation Funding Agreement. It originates
from federal and state governments, through the Australia Council for the Arts and the Victoria Ministry for the Arts and is paid to Melbourne
Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited. A funding agreement between Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited and Melbourne
Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited provides the basis for the funds to be passed to Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited. As a result,
the company is economically dependent on Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited, and in turn, on the Australia Council for
the Arts and the Victoria Ministry for the Arts.
The directors note that the Company’s continued success is also dependent on maintaining current levels of corporate sponsorship and
ticket sales and successfully mitigating the negative impact of Hamer Hall closure by way of negotiating additional specific purpose funding
to mitigate these impacts for the period until Hamer Hall reopens.

25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
No events have occurred subsequent to balance date that materially affect the accounts and are not already reflected in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position.

26. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited is a company limited
by shares, incorporated in Australia and having its registered office
address and principal place of business at:
ABC Southbank Centre
120 - 130 Southbank Boulevard
Southbank VIC 3006
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The postal address of
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited is:
GPO Box 9994
Melbourne VIC 3001

Directors’ DECLARATION

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
In the opinion of the Directors of Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited (“the Company”):
(a) the financial statements and notes of the Company are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2010 and of its performance,
as represented by the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Harold Mitchell AC
Chairman
Melbourne
30 March 2011

Matthew VanBesien
Managing Director
Melbourne
30 March 2011
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Melbourne Symphony Orchestra gratefully acknowledges the
following organisations for their generous support:

Geoffrey Rush
MSO AMBASSADOR

PRINCIPAL PARTNER

GOVERNMENT PARTNERS

PARTNER – MAESTRO LEVEL

PARTNER – CONCERTMASTER LEVEL

PARTNER – ASSOCIATE LEVEL

SUPPORTING PARTNER

The Crock Group • Kent Moving and Storage • Lindt & Sprüngli
Quince’s Scenicruisers • Melbourne Brass and Woodwind • Nose to Tail
SUPPLIERS
2010 Melbourne Symphony Orchestra – Annual Report

Page 57

Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd ABN 47 078 925 658
120 – 130 Southbank Boulevard Southbank VIC 3006
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